RECEIVED

May 06 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel M. Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000833

Christine Jernigan and Justin Jernigan..... Appellants,

v.

Kershaw County Sheriff's OfficeRespondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Justin A. Jernigan, Esq.
S.C. Bar No. 74954
302 Pine Cliff Dr.
Seneca, SC 29672
864-710-5029
justin.a.jernigan@gmail.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Whether issues on appeal are immediately appealable under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330.**
- II. **Whether the circuit court erred by failing to follow the procedural requirements, deadlines, and substantive legal standards of FOIA, Section 30-4-100(A).**
- III. **Whether the circuit court erred in denying Appellants' Motion for Sanctions/Contempt.**
- IV. **Whether the circuit court erred in denying Appellants' Motion to Recuse.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Kershaw County Sheriff's Office ("Respondent" or "KCSO") took police action against law-abiding citizens on the morning of June 29, 2022. (R. pp. 293-95, 410). Specifically, Respondent performed a traffic stop and detained Appellant Christine Jernigan and her mother Ann Martin ("Mrs. Martin"), who is a vulnerable adult. (R. pp. 139-40). Respondent took these actions because Appellant Mrs. Jernigan and her mother were acting in a manner that was "against the wishes of" third-party private citizens. (R. pp. 294, 410).

Undersigned counsel traveled to KCSO's main office on the morning of June 29, 2022, and requested that KCSO release his mother Mrs. Jernigan and grandmother Mrs. Martin unless they were being charged with a criminal offense. (R. pp. 4, 20, 140). Instead, KCSO forced Mrs. Martin to exit her daughter Mrs. Jernigan's vehicle in order to be returned to a privately-owned, for-profit assisted living facility located in Kershaw County. (R. p. 140).

On September 12, 2022, Appellants initiated this special-proceeding (Counts I and II) seeking declaratory and equitable relief in the Court of Common Pleas for Kershaw County. (R. pp. 1-18). Count I of the Complaint seeks declaratory/equitable relief pursuant to the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"), S.C. Code § 30-4-100(A). Appellants' underlying July 22, 2022, FOIA Request to Respondent seeks public records relevant to the

above-noted KCSO police actions/activities of June 29, 2022 (described in detail therein), including all relevant audio/video recordings. (R. pp. 15-18).

Pursuant to FOIA, Section 30-4-30(c), upon receipt of a written request seeking public records, the public body must (within 10 business days) (i) determine the availability of the public records relevant to the FOIA request; (ii) provide written explanations to the requestor as to those relevant public records available for disclosure; (iii) provide written explanations to the requestor as to those relevant public records not available for disclosure (e.g., records claimed to be exempt from disclosure); and (iv) provide the requestor with a date certain, within thirty (30) calendar days, when the available public records will be disclosed. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(c).

On July 25, 2022, Respondent provided the below FOIA Response and written determination to Appellants:

After reviewing your request, we do not have any reports regarding the incident you mentioned from June 29, 2022. The only records of this incident in our system are the calls made to our central dispatch, and you will have to obtain those records from them. According to the records and your request, you were informed that the issue you were dealing with was a civil issue, so that is why we do not have any records regarding this incident. If you have any further questions or concerns, you are welcome to contact us.

(R. pp. 169-70).

Count I of the Complaint seeks: a finding that the written determination provided by Respondent to Appellants on July 25, 2022, (copied above) violates the statutory written determination requirements of FOIA, Section 30-4-30(c); a finding that the purported “civil issue” exemptions to disclosure claimed in the July 25, 2022, Response are in violation of FOIA; equitable relief compelling disclosure of the relevant public records requested; and an order awarding Appellants reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses incurred in this action. (R. pp. 11-12).

The Complaint requests that the circuit court “[s]chedule an initial hearing within 10 days of the date of service” pursuant to FOIA, Section 30-4-100(A). (R. p. 12). In this respect, the General Assembly amended/updated FOIA, S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100(A) (eff. May 19, 2017, emphasis added) to include procedures and deadlines (underlined below) that the chief administrative judge (“CAJ”) of the circuit court is required to follow upon the filing of a FOIA case:

A citizen of the State may apply to the circuit court for a declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, or both, to enforce the provisions of this chapter in appropriate cases if the application is made no later than one year after the date of the alleged violation or one year after a public vote in public session, whichever comes later. Upon the filing of the request for declaratory judgment or injunctive relief related to provisions of this chapter, the chief administrative judge of the circuit court *must* schedule an initial hearing within ten days of the service on all parties. If the hearing court is unable to make a final ruling at the initial hearing, the court *shall* establish a scheduling order to conclude actions brought pursuant to this chapter within six months of initial filing. The court may extend this time period upon a showing of good cause. The court may order equitable relief as it considers appropriate, and a violation of this chapter must be considered to be an irreparable injury for which no adequate remedy at law exists.

The procedural requirements, deadlines, and substantive legal standards of FOIA, Section 30-4-100(A), were not followed in the present case.

Count II of the Complaint seeks declaratory/equitable relief pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-53-10, *et seq.*, and statutory provisions allowing individuals to request and receive body-worn camera (“BWC”) data, S.C. Code Ann. § 23-1-240(g)(5). (R. pp. 11-12). Notably, Subsection (5) of Section 23-1-240(g) (emphasis added) specifies that individuals who are themselves the subjects of body worn camera (“BWC”) recordings – i.e., Appellants on June 29, 2022 – are “persons who may request and *must* receive data recorded by a body-worn camera ... pursuant to ... a court order.” Count II requests an order requiring disclosure of the relevant BWC data pursuant to S.C. Code 23-1-240(g)(5). (R. p. 12).

With regard to Count II, Appellants' July 22, 2022, FOIA Request "respectfully request[ed] that all body-worn camera records ... be preserved" by KCSO. (R. pp. 17-18). Respondent's then-counsel, Kershaw County Attorney Tommy Morgan, Esq. ("Mr. Morgan"), indicated via email on July 28, 2022, that the relevant body worn camera audio/video recordings of the June 29, 2022, police-involved incidents would not be provided in response to Appellants' July 22, 2022, FOIA Request. (R. pp. 165-66). Undersigned counsel replied, on August 1, 2022, as follows: "Understand [that] there is [a] FOIA exemption for body cam video, but respectfully request preservation." (R. p. 165).

In further regards to Count II, at the status conference on December 5, 2022, before the Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Respondent's counsel revealed, for the first time, that all relevant body worn camera audio/video recordings of the June 29, 2022, police-involved incidents – for which preservation was explicitly requested – had instead been destroyed by KCSO.

I've told the Court and [Appellants' counsel] Justin that there are no body cams in existence. So that's kind of a moot point at this point.

(R. p. 210, lines 2-3).

I [Appellants' counsel] asked that [KCSO] preserve the body camera [recordings]. It's in the [July 22, 2022, FOIA] request ... and they're required under their own policies to have the body camera and under the records [act].

(R. p. 212, lines 18-19 and R. p. 213, lines 2-3).

Respondent produced its "BWC Records Retention Schedules" document to Appellants on January 9, 2023. (R. pp. 217-18). The relevant body worn camera recordings documenting KCSO's police actions on the morning of June 29, 2022, were apparently destroyed, or "written over," once the 60-day minimum retention period of the BWC Retention Schedules expired; i.e., on August 27, 2022. In contrast, the "Traffic Stop" label of the BWC Retention Schedules, and

its corresponding 180-day retention period, should have applied to all the relevant body worn camera audio/video recordings of KCSO's traffic stop on the morning of June 29, 2022. (*See* R. p. 218). Thus, the body worn camera recordings of the June 29, 2022, traffic stop should not have been destroyed prior to December 26, 2022, pursuant to the requirements of Respondent's own BWC Retention Schedules.

Respondent filed its Answer on October 28, 2022, including affirmative defenses alleging that formal service of process was not properly executed, and that undersigned counsel lacks "capacity" to proceed individually as to Count I of the Complaint (i.e., *pro se*). (R. p. 22). Counsel for the parties conferred as required pursuant to Rule 11, SCRCP, matters concerning the third and fourth defenses of the Answer were clarified, and these matters were resolved amicably amongst the parties. (R. p. 441).

The initial 10-day hearing required pursuant to FOIA, Section 30-4-100(A) was delayed for approximately three months, until December 19, 2022, due to scheduling issues beyond Appellants' control. (R. p. 199, lines 14-23; R. p. 206, line 14-p. 208, line 21; R. p. 238, line 17-p. 239, line 10). The CAJ is responsible for scheduling the initial hearing and establishing a scheduling order to fully resolve all FOIA actions within six months of initial filing if a final determination cannot be reached at the initial hearing. *See Osmundson v. School District 5*, 443 S.C. 610, 905 S.E.2d 418 (Ct. App. 2024) (interpreting the 10-day hearing requirement based on its plain meaning, as a matter of first impression).

At the December 19, 2022, initial hearing, the Honorable Jocelyn Newman, CAJ, stated: "I think that [KCSO] should do a written response, almost like you're responding to interrogatories or requests for production, as to each item set forth in the FOIA request." (R. p. 251, lines 17-20; R. p. 255, lines 5-16). Appellants respectfully submit that Judge Newman's

instructions at the December 19, 2022, initial hearing regarding the written response required by FOIA, Section 30-4-30(c) are consistent with precedent. *See, e.g., Sloan v. South Carolina Dep't of Revenue*, 409 S.C. 551, 762 S.E.2d 687, 688-89 (2014) (holding that the DOR's "equivocal and evasive" FOIA response was "manifestly at odds with the clarity mandated by" Section 30-4-30(c)). Judge Newman's December 28, 2022, Form 4 Order states that "[KCSO] shall fully comply with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act vis-a-vis [Appellants'] requests within 20 days of the hearing." (R. p. 24).

Appellants' February 23, 2023, Motion for Sanctions/Contempt raises three primary issues: (i) spoliation of the relevant body worn camera records/evidence of Count II; (ii) failure to comply with the statutory response and written determination obligations of FOIA, Section 30-4-30(c), as ordered by Judge Newman in December 2022; and (iii) failure to comply with the discovery requirements of the SCRCP in response to Appellants' October 29, 2022, First Set of Discovery Requests. (R. pp. 90, 101-18). At the conclusion of the April 27, 2023, hearing on Appellants' Motion for Sanctions/Contempt, the Honorable Daniel Coble took the matter under advisement stating:

THE COURT: ...I'm going to try to address those three main issues about destroying evidence. The FOIA response and then the discovery response.

MR. JERNIGAN: Thank you, Your Honor.

(R. p. 521, lines 15-17).

With respect to (iii), the discovery responses, the Motion for Sanctions/Contempt seeks an order compelling Respondent to provide full/complete *verified* answers to Appellants' October 29, 2022, First Set of Interrogatories (Ex. B), as required by Rule 33(a), SCRCP ("Each interrogatory shall be answered separately and fully in writing under oath"). At the April 27, 2023, hearing, Judge Coble indicated that he would need to review this matter in order to

determine if KCSO was, in fact, required to provide verified answers in response to Appellants' October 29, 2022, First Set of Interrogatories.

THE COURT: "I'm going to review the discovery questions and their responses because I'm not aware that a verification is required under oath but I need to review."

(R. p. 522, lines 12-14).

Nevertheless, on June 2, 2023, Judge Coble entered a Form 4 Order stating that *all* the requested relief of Appellants' Motion for Sanctions/Contempt was denied, and that a formal/written order would be entered at a later date. Our Supreme Court has held that a judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned when his [or her] factual findings are not supported by the record." *Ellis v. Procter and Gamble Distributing Co.*, 433 S.E.2d 856, 857, 315 S.C. 283, 285 (1993). Appellants filed a Motion to Recuse on July 14, 2023, raising objective, appearance-based concerns pursuant to Canon 3E(1) that the circuit court's June 2, 2023, Form 4 denial of all requested relief cannot be supported by the record in this case.

In this respect, the denial cannot be supported because the record establishes that Respondent: (i) destroyed relevant body worn camera audio/video recordings of Count II, for which preservation was explicitly requested on multiple occasions, 120 days before expiration of the 180-day retention period that is required for "Traffic Stops" in its own BWC Retention Schedules (R. p. 218); (ii) did not take any action to comply with Judge Newman's December 28, 2022, Form 4 Order within 20 days of the initial hearing, or thereafter; and (iii) did not provide full/complete verified interrogatory answers under oath as required by Rule 33(a), SCRPC. *Cf. Davis v. Parkview Apartments*, 409 S.C. 266, 762 S.E.2d 535, 547 (2014) (determining that disqualification was not required under Canon 3E(1) because "the Record supports all of the court's orders in this case, including the Discovery Order").

The circuit court's October 20, 2023, 9:44am Written Order finalizes the prior June 2, 2023, Form 4 general denial of all the relief requested by Appellants' February 23, 2023, Motion for Sanctions/Contempt. The 9:44am Written Order (*see* below, emphasis added), however, only attempts to address one of the three grounds of Appellants' Motion or Sanctions/Contempt:

On December 28, 2022 Judge Jocelyn C. Newman issued a Form 4 Order (the Order) stating, 'Following a hearing on December 19, 2022, the Court ordered that Defendant[] shall fully comply with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act vis-à-vis Plaintiff's requests within 20 days of the hearing.'

After thoroughly considering all of the arguments made during the April 27th, 2023 hearing and the written submissions of the parties, this Court *finds that Defendant complied with the Order to the best of its ability and in good faith.* Therefore, Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions/Contempt is hereby **DENIED**.

(R. pp. 564-65).

As illustrated above, the 9:44am Written Order finds that Respondent "complied with" Judge Newman's Order "to the best of its ability and in good faith," even though Respondent did not take any steps towards complying with Judge Newman's December 28, 2022, Form 4 Order. (R. p. 50). The 9:44am Written Order does not address, consider, and/or rule on the other two grounds of the Motion for Sanction/Contempt; i.e., (i) spoliation of the relevant body worn camera records/evidence of Count II; and (iii) failure to comply with the discovery requirements of the SCRCF. (*See* R. pp. 564-65).

The circuit court's October 20, 2023, 9:41am Written Order denies Appellants July 14, 2023, Motion to Recuse, stating as follows:

Under South Carolina law, if there is no evidence of judicial prejudice, a judge's failure to disqualify himself will not be reversed on appeal. *Roche v. Young Bros., Inc.*, 332 S.C. 75, 504 S.E.2d 311 (1998). "As the threshold for a showing of bias is high, a finding of judicial bias must be based on an abiding impression left from a reading of the entire record, not from particular comments or ruling considered in isolation." *Alexander v. Parks*, 834 Fed. Appx. 778 (2020) (internal citations omitted). "It is not sufficient for a party seeking a judge's disqualification to simply allege bias; the party must show some evidence of bias

or prejudice.” Appellate Court Rule 501, Code of Jud. Conduct, Canon 3, subd. E(1)(a).

After reviewing the applicable law and considering the arguments raised by the parties, the Court finds no evidence of judicial bias or prejudice. Plaintiffs’ Motion is based solely on allegations that are not supported by evidence. Accordingly, the Court concludes that disqualification is unwarranted. As such, Plaintiffs’ Motion to Recuse, Vacate, and Reassign is hereby **DENIED**.

(R. pp. 561-62).

As illustrated above, the circuit court’s October 20, 2023, 9:41am Written Order does not consider or address any of the appearance-based Canon 3E(1) concerns raised by Appellants’ Motion to Recuse or Reconsider; notably, that “impartiality might reasonably be questioned when his [or her] factual findings are not supported by the record.” *Ellis*, 433 S.E.2d at 857, 315 S.C. at 285; (R. pp. 328-31, 344-46).

Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, Appellants timely-filed an October 30, 2023, Motion to Reconsider the respective October 20, 2023, Written Orders entered in the above-captioned case denying the February 23, 2023, Motion for Sanctions/Contempt, and July 14, 2023, Motion to Recuse or Reconsider. (R. pp. 567-84). The circuit court denied Appellants’ October 30, 2023, Rule 59(e) Motion to Reconsider on May 3, 2024. (R. pp. 585-87). Appellants timely-filed and served a Notice of Appeal on May 21, 2024.

The present appeal was initially dismissed, by an Order entered June 4, 2024, on grounds that issues raised are not appealable pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330. On June 20, 2024, Appellants filed a Motion to Reinstate on grounds that issues raised are appealable under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330. Appellants’ June 20, 2024, Motion to Reinstate was granted on September 3, 2024, and the parties were directed to address the issue of appealability in their briefs.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues on appeal concern the circuit court’s interpretation and application of statutes, rules, and/or precedent to undisputed facts of record, which are questions the appellate court is free to decide with no particular deference to the circuit court. *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 719 (2000) (citations omitted). “Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and this Court reviews questions of law *de novo*.” *Catawba Indian Tribe v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007). Although an injunction is equitable in nature, the analysis presents a question of law if the matter can be determined based on interpretation and application of statutory provisions to the facts of record. *Lambries v. Saluda Cnty. Council*, 409 S.C. 1, 760 S.E.2d 785, 788 (2014) (citation omitted).

In construing a statute, a court examines and enforces the statutory language as written. *See Smith v. Tiffany*, 419 S.C. 548, 555, 799 S.E.2d 479, 483 (2017) (“It is axiomatic that statutory interpretation begins (and often ends) with the text of the statute in question. Absent an ambiguity, there is nothing for a court to construe, that is, a court should not look beyond the statutory text to discern its meaning. ... ‘[T]here is no occasion for employing rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning’ unless a statutory provision is ambiguous.”) (citations omitted).

RELEVANT LEGAL STANDARDS

I. Right to Appeal

“The right of appeal arises from and is controlled by statutory law.” *Hagood v. Sommerville*, 362 S.C. 191, 194, 607 S.E.2d 707, 708 (2005). “The determination of whether a party may immediately appeal an order issued before or during trial is governed primarily by” Section 14-3-330 of the South Carolina Code. *Id.*, 362 S.C. at 195, 607 S.E.2d at 708. “An

order generally must fall into one of several categories” listed in Section 14-3-330 to be immediately appealable. *Id.* Section 14-3-330 allows a party to directly appeal:

- (1) Any intermediate judgment, order or decree in a law case involving the merits in actions commenced in the court of common pleas ...;
- (2) An order affecting a substantial right made in an action when such order (a) in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action, (b) grants or refuses a new trial or (c) strikes out ... any pleading in any action;
- (3) A final order affecting a substantial right made in any special proceeding ...; and
- (4) An interlocutory order or decree in a court of common pleas granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing an injunction

II. Equitable/Injunctive Relief

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