**RECEIVED**

**May 22 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel M. Coble, Circuit Court Judge  
Civil Action No. 2022-CP-28-00782  
Appellate Case No. 2024-000833

---

Christine Jernigan and Justin Jernigan ....., Appellants,

v.

Kershaw County Sheriff's Office....., Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

DAVID L. MORRISON  
Garfield Spreeuwes Law Group, LLC  
1220 Pickens Street  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 830-5496

*Counsel for Respondent*

**

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

This brief will address the appealability of this matter, and the merits. Much of what is submitted here is contained in documents filed in the trial court and incorporated into the record here, that will be referenced in this brief, but not repeated here. In particular, the responses to various motions and the explanations in response to each Paragraph of the FOIA request and to each discovery request are significant to the issues here.

### **APPEALABILITY**

This Court's original Order dismissing this appeal because the underlying motions are not immediately appealable was correct. The appeal is from three trial court orders all relating to Appellant's request for sanctions against the Appellee for allegedly violating discovery or not complying with a prior court order. None of the orders ruling on those matters or the motions to reconsider ended the case on the merits. Form Orders denying Motion for Sanctions/Contempt, Record @ p. 564; Form Order denying Motion to Recuse, Vacate, Re-Assign or Alternatively Reconsider, Record @ p. 561; Form Order denying Motion to Reconsider, Record @ p. 585. None of the orders fall within the scope of appealable matters under S.C. Code Ann. Section 14-3-330 or Rule 72, SCRPC. In more detail, the orders are:

(1) The first order was by Judge Daniel Coble dated October 20, 2023, denying Appellant's motions for sanctions/contempt after full briefing and hearing. Order Denying Motion for Sanctions/Contempt, Form 4 Order denying Motion for Sanctions/Contempt, Record @ P. 564.

(2) The second order issued by Judge Coble dated October 2023 @ 9:41 am denying Appellant's Motion to Recuse, Vacate and Re-Assign or, Alternatively to Reconsider *Interlocutory* order and award sanctions; and (emphasis added). Order denying Motion to Recuse, etc. , Record @ 561.

(3) The third order by Judge Coble dated May 3, 2024, denying Appellants' second motion to reconsider and award sanctions. Order denying Motion to Reconsider, Record @ p. 585.

Appellants misconstrue the Orders in issue. They erroneously claim that the orders determined that Kershaw County Sheriff's Office (KCSO) complied with the statutory requirements of FOIA. The order itself does not mention the statutory requirements of FOIA, much less find that Appellee was in compliance with them. The Order does not prevent a judgment from which an appeal may be taken later and is not a final order affecting substantial rights. It is a discovery order finding no sanctions should be awarded because of the good faith response of the KCSO. It does not determine that the responses were in compliance with FOIA, and good faith is not typically a defense to a FOIA enforcement action. Further, the Order does not affect the mode of trial.

Appellant further alleges that Judge Coble's Order determined that KCSO did not spoliage the body camera videos. The first issue dealing with the original motions for sanctions/contempt was presented differently to the circuit court than it is being characterized here. Importantly, and contrary to Appellant's repeated assertions in their responses in both the lower court and in their motion for re-instatement filed in this case, the Motion for Sanctions/Contempt did not raise the issue of spoliage of body cam video evidence. To be sure, Mr. Jernigan did mention that at the

hour-long hearing, but it was not made a part of the motion, and no relief was sought for that in the motion. This motion was not designed or intended to end the case, and that issue was not part of the motion or the order. Additionally, the body cam and the issue of spoliation was not mentioned in the Order denying the motion. There was no reference to body cams or spoliation. There was no need for the court to address that in its order since it was not a part of the motion. The Court's silence is not a ruling, but simply a reflection that the motion did raise address that. Appellants had argued at hearing that they were seeking that relief. But upon further reflection and a consideration of the motion itself, that request is absent. Certainly, the court studied the motion before ruling on its merit.

Additionally, the Appellant's motion to Recuse, Vacate and Re-Assign or Alternative to Reconsider Interlocutory Order did not request relief for the issue of body cams or spoliation. While reciting their version of the history of this case, the body cam/spoliation issue was mentioned in one sentence at page 5 of the motion - as background history only with no request for a ruling or relief. Even at that late date, Appellants did not identify that as an issue for the court in any writing submitted to the court for review.

The first written mention of body cams and spoliation occurred in the second Motion to Reconsider. In that document, they said that the Court's October 23 Orders "do not address the issues and arguments raised by Plaintiff's Motions concerning the concealment, destruction and/or spoliation of relevant BWC records/evidence." They did not acknowledge that those issues were not raised in either of the two pending motions in issue – the Motion for Sanctions/Contempt and the Motion to Recuse, Vacate and Re-Assign, or Alternatively, Reconsider.

Based upon that, the Appellants contend that this case is immediately appealable in part because the lower court ruled on that issue – body cams and spoliation – finding against them. The court allegedly did so based upon two motions that did not raise the issue and in an order that did not address the issue. They claim that the court *sub silentio* ruled upon that issue. They would have this court find on appeal that the trial court’s silence in its order as to an issue not raised in the two motions and not ruled upon in the court’s order should be interpreted to have silently ruled upon that issue! Certainly, counsel for the Appellees could not argue to the trial court that the issue of body cam video destruction and spoliation had been decided by that Order so that Appellant cannot proceed to trial on those issues. That issue simply was not ever an issue actually addressed by the court in its orders and there is no preclusive effect.

Instead, the motions dealt with discovery issues. The motion alleged that Kershaw County had not complied with an earlier court order regarding discovery and the providing a deadline for compliance with FOIA. The issues surrounded Appellant’s allegations that KCSO was lying and covering up evidence. The Sheriff’s Department contended that it had indeed complied with that order in good faith and to the best of its ability as well as the discovery. The KCSO should not be sanctioned for not producing a video that no longer exists simply because they did not produce it. However, the issue regarding “why” the video was destroyed remains an issue for FOIA, pending and subject to proof. After reviewing voluminous exhibits, including a detailed review of the FOIA request and attempts to comply, and a detailed explanation for every interrogatory response and every response to request for the production of documents, the court found that the Appellees acted in good faith and that sanctions were not appropriate. The issues regarding violations of the FOIA statute remain pending. Good faith, along with denials that the Sheriff’s Department was lying and covering up, and the lack of evidence to prove that point was

the defense to this motion. Good faith was the basis for denying the motion. Good faith is a defense to a motion for sanctions. While good faith may be a consideration in framing sanctions in a FOIA violation case, good faith is not a defense to a FOIA breach. *Pope v. Wilson*, 831 S.E.2d 442 (Ct. App. 2019). Good faith is a defense for a trier of fact to consider in determining whether an adverse inference is appropriate in that situation. But it is not, on its face, a defense to an alleged FOIA breach. This matter was decided on the appropriate standard for a discovery sanctions motion, not on a standard appropriate for the resolution of a FOIA breach allegation. The motions were considered discovery or case management motions and have no precedential effect on the remainder of the case.

Contrary to Appellants expressed concern, that order did not conclude the case. The form 4 order specifically says that “this order does not end the case”.<sup>1</sup> Form 4 Order, Record @ 315. Issues regarding body worn camera videos being deleted were not addressed in the motion or the order. *Id.* Body camera video could not be produced in response to a request for production because it no longer existed. There was no finding regarding the merits of the Appellant’s FOIA complaint. *Id.* Instead, the motion requested the court to consider an award of sanctions for not complying with discovery and the prior court order. The court denied the motion based upon the circumstances of why various items were or were not produced when there were allegations of intentional wrongdoing with misquoted policies and no proof.<sup>2</sup>

The transcript of the hearing is revealing. Appellant was complaining that the Kershaw County Sheriff’s Department was intentionally hiding and not producing many documents that were in their possession. Transcript of Hearing, on Sanctions/Contempt Motion, April 27, 2023,

---

<sup>1</sup> Just below the signature box on the Form 4 order is a block for the judge to check as to whether this order ends the case or does not end the case. In all of the orders under appeal, the trial court checked the box that this does not end the case.

<sup>2</sup> Indeed, many items were not produced because they never existed despite Appellant’s protestations and request for sanctions based on his belief that they did.

pp. 8-40, Record @ p. 477. The County countered that documents in existence had been produced and Appellant was mistaken in his judgment about other documents that should exist. For example, Appellant contends that the County was required to prepare an incident report of this matter. Transcript of Hearing, on Sanctions/Contempt Motion, April 27, 2023, pp. 16-40, Record @ p. 477, 492-516. Appellant concludes that since in his view the County was required to prepare one, they obviously did prepare one and were lying when they claimed there was nothing to produce because no report was prepared. In their lengthy memorandum in support of their motion they said: “KCSO knew, based upon its official Policy Manual, Chapter 209 – Records, that reports must be prepared documenting all “citizen requests for services that an officer is dispatched...to investigate,” and this is true regardless of the subject matter involved (i.e., criminal, or civil requests).” Pl. Memo in Support of Motion for Sanctions/Contempt @ p. 5, Record @ 94.

However, the part of the quote omitted by Appellant with the ellipses changes the meaning completely. Kershaw County responded repeatedly that there was no incident report because this was a civil matter. The Appellant interprets that as the assertion of a civil exemption. That is simply not true. But, Appellants’ quote of the policy is incorrect and misleading. The policy actually says – without the omission utilized by Appellant for this argument - that it is the policy of the department to document incidents including “all citizen requests for services when an officer is dispatched, **and an employee is assigned** to investigate..” (emphasis added). Pl Memo in Support, Ex. G, KCSO policy, @ p. 10 of 15. Record @ 121.

That illustrates the issues presented to the circuit court in opposition to Appellants motion for sanctions and contempt for failing to properly respond to a prior court order and discovery in this case. Appellant indicated to the court that an incident report was required based on an

incomplete quote, and that the Appellee refused to provide it under a civil exemption or that Appellee was simply lying and hiding it. They requested sanctions for that. Appellee provided evidence to the court that it complied with the prior court order and could not provide such an incident report because this was a civil matter therefore no officer was *assigned to investigate* and prepare a report. No report exists! The circuit court simply found that the Appellee was not in contempt of the prior court order given the documentation and information provided. Appellee wants to re-argue that now without illustrating where the court erred in that analysis.

That did not conclude the case and did not address the body camera videos as Appellant now claims in this appeal. It was simply a motion to hold the Appellee in contempt for failing to comply with a court order and discovery. It was, as this court first assessed, a non-appealable discovery order.

As further evidence, the Appellant's second Motion to Reconsider raised the body cams/spoilation issue in two sentences. Appellant's Motion to Reconsider, @ p. 11, Record @ 318, 413, 456. They specifically stated that the Court's orders **do not** address that issue. They mistakenly claimed that the issue was framed by and raised in the motions. But they admitted that the court did **NOT** address those issues.

Moreover, Appellants requested the court to address those issues. The court denied that motion and did not address those issues. The fact that the court denied the motion where Appellants specifically pointed out an issue that, even though not raised in the motion, had not been addressed and requested the court to do so, is further proof that the court did not consider or address that issue. The Court denied the request to reconsider and address that issue in an order where it had not been addressed.

Likewise, the remaining orders appealed from relate to this same matter. They simply are motions asking the court to reconsider its order (twice), withdraw its order and assign the matter to another judge to rehear based on this judge's alleged obvious impartiality because he ruled against Appellant, and to have the judge recuse himself. Record @ 305, 459. Those all relate to the original order issued by the trial court related to a discovery matter based upon a prior court order and discovery in this case.

This court originally dismissed this appeal on the grounds that these matters are not appealable. Appellant responded with a petition to reconsider. In that petition, Appellant alleges that the trial court ruled that the Appellee's response to the FOIA request "complied with" the statutory written requirements of FOIA. However, the trial court's order did not mention or refer to the statutory requirements of FOIA, much less rule on a compliance issue. Order denying Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions/Contempt, Record @ p. 564. To the contrary, the Sanctions motion only mentioned Judge Newman's order in this case and the discovery in this case. At the initial hearing on this matter Judge Newman had heard the Appellant argue that we had not complied with FOIA while we argued that we had, and that Appellant's counsel was claiming that we had intentionally withheld documents. To put the court in a better position to resolve that dispute, Judge Newman had simply ruled that the Appellee had twenty days to respond to FOIA and that then the matter could go forward. The Appellee provided a detailed response to the matters Appellant claimed had not been produced. Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Sanctions/Contempt @ pp. 3-20, Record @. P. 293 - 314. That document, the memoranda submitted by the parties and the arguments made at the Sanctions hearing before Judge Coble simply formed the basis for his ruling on the motion for sanctions/contempt for behavior in the discovery phase of this case.

Appellant goes further to assert that the trial court ruled on matters not before it – but silently! Frankly, we had to look up the definition *sub-silentio* as used in Appellant’s allegation where he claims that other matters were determined – without being addressed. Judge Coble never expressed a desire to address those matters. Nothing indicates that in the transcript of the hearing nor in the order. Further, while there was some brief discussion of those matters by Mr. Jernigan in the hearing, the matter was not presented as a ground for relief in the motion itself. The Judge’s Order is ruling on the pending motion. The failure to rule on a matter that was not raised in the motion cannot be interpreted to be a silent ruling on that matter.

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